

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



JOURNAL OF CHROMATOGRAPHY B

Journal of Chromatography B, 801 (2004) 141-156

Review

www.elsevier.com/locate/chromb

# Restricted access materials and large particle supports for on-line sample preparation: an attractive approach for biological fluids analysis

S. Souverain, S. Rudaz, J.-L. Veuthey\*

Laboratory of Pharmaceutical Analytical Chemistry, School of Pharmacy, University of Geneva, 20 Bd. d'Yvoy, 1211 Geneva 4, Switzerland

Received 31 October 2003; received in revised form 26 November 2003; accepted 28 November 2003

#### Abstract

An analytical process generally involves four main steps: (1) sample preparation; (2) analytical separation; (3) detection; and (4) data handling. In the bioanalytical field, sample preparation is often considered as the time-limiting step. Indeed, the extraction techniques commonly used for biological matrices such as liquid–liquid extraction (LLE) and solid-phase extraction (SPE) are achieved in the off-line mode. In order to perform a high throughput analysis, efforts have been engaged in developing a faster sample purification process. Among different strategies, the introduction of special extraction sorbents, such as the restricted access media (RAM) and large particle supports (LPS), allowing the direct and repetitive injection of complex biological matrices, represents a very attractive approach. Integrated in a liquid chromatography (LC) system, these extraction supports lead to the automation, simplification and speeding up of the sample preparation process. In this paper, RAM and LPS are reviewed and particular attention is given to commercially available supports. Applications of these extraction supports, are presented in single column and column-switching configurations, for the direct analysis of compounds in various biological fluids.

© 2004 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Reviews; Restricted access materials; Large particle supports; Direct injection

# Contents

| 1. | Introduction   | 142 |
|----|--|-----|
| 2. | Special extraction supports for direct and repetitive injection of biological fluids | 143 |
|    | 2.1. Restricted access media   | 143 |
|    | 2.1.1. RAM with a physical barrier   | 143 |
|    | 2.1.1.1. Internal surface reversed-phase   | 143 |
|    | 2.1.1.2. Alkyl-diol-silica material  | 143 |
|    | 2.1.1.3. Porous silica covered by a combined ligand                                  | 143 |
|    | 2.1.2. RAM with a chemical barrier   | 146 |
|    | 2.1.2.1. Semi-permeable surface  | 146 |
|    | 2.1.2.2. Protein-coated silica   | 146 |
|    | 2.1.2.3. Mixed-functional material   | 146 |
|    | 2.1.2.4. Shielded hydrophobic phase  | 147 |
|    | 2.2. Large particle supports   | 147 |
|    | 2.2.1. Concept of large particle supports  | 147 |
|    | 2.2.2. Available LPS   | 147 |
|    | 2.3. Monolithic phases   | 148 |

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Tel.: +41-22-379-6336; fax: +41-22-379-6808. *E-mail address:* jean-luc.veuthey@pharm.unige.ch (J.-L. Veuthey).

| 3. On-li | line sample preparation set-up              | 148 |
|----------|---|-----|
| 3.1.     | Direct mode configuration                   | 148 |
|          | 3.1.1. Single column mode with UV detection | 150 |
|          | 3.1.2. Single column mode with MS detection | 150 |
|          | 3.1.2.1. MS requirements                    | 151 |
| 3.2.     | Column-switching configuration              | 151 |
|          | 3.2.1. Selectivity                          | 152 |
|          | 3.2.2. Sensitivity                          | 152 |
|          | 3.2.3. Analysis time                        | 152 |
| 4. Conc  | clusion                                     | 153 |
| Referen  | nces  | 153 |

# 1. Introduction

In the pharmaceutical field, continued efforts are engaged in the development of faster analytical methods with concomitant higher sensitivity and selectivity. Liquid chromatography (LC) can be considered as the technique of choice currently used for drug and metabolites analysis in biological fluids. However, biological matrices, such as serum and plasma, are complex mixtures incompatible with a direct injection into conventional LC supports. Indeed, when proteineous matrices are directly injected on reversed stationary phases, protein denaturation occurs with an irreversible adsorption on particles, which causes a rapid deterioration of chromatographic performances and clogging of the column. To overcome this problem, a sample preparation step is necessary. The extraction techniques commonly used, such as solid-phase extraction (SPE), liquid-liquid extraction (LLE) and membrane extraction (i.e. ultrafiltration, dialysis), are generally achieved in off-line mode and are, consequently, recognised as being tedious and labour-intensive and are considered as the time-limiting step in the analytical

process [1–4]. Traditional protein precipitation (PP) procedures are considered as the fastest and simplest extraction techniques [5–7]. PP can be used as a sample preparation process as well as a pre-treatment in other extraction techniques. However, its low selectivity can induce analyte co-precipitation or mass spectrometry (MS) signal suppression [8–12].

The development of special and selective extraction supports, allowing the direct and multiple injections of biological matrices, is an attractive means to reduce the sample preparation time. Among different supports, restricted access media (RAM) [13–16] and large particles supports (LPS) [17–20] are considered, nowadays, as the most popular extraction materials (Fig. 1). These different extraction supports possess the common property of excluding macromolecules while analytes are generally retained by hydrophobic or electrostatic interactions. Connected to a detector in a single column configuration or to an analytical column in a column-switching configuration, these special extraction supports allow automating, simplifying and speeding up of the sample preparation step. During



Fig. 1. Articles published on the use of RAM and LPS supports for the on-line sample preparation of biological matrices.

recent years, this on-line sample extraction process has been widely used for the fast analysis of a large variety of compounds in various biological matrices.

This paper describes the use of restricted access media and large particle supports. In the first part, the fundamental characteristics of RAM and LPS sorbents are reviewed and particular attention is given to commercially available supports. In the second part, these extraction supports, in single column and column-switching configurations are discussed and their application to the analysis of compounds in various biological fluids is presented.

# 2. Special extraction supports for direct and repetitive injection of biological fluids

### 2.1. Restricted access media

The restricted access media term was introduced by Desilets et al. in 1991 [21]. It designates a support family which allows direct injection of biological fluids by limiting the accessibility of interaction sites within the pores to small molecules only. Macromolecules are excluded and interact only with the outer surface of the particle support coated with hydrophilic groups, which minimises the adsorption of matrix proteins. RAM can be classified according to the protein exclusion mechanism. Macromolecules can be excluded by a physical barrier due to the pore diameter or by a chemical diffusion barrier created by a protein (or polymer) network at the outer surface of the particle. Boos and Rudolphi [13] completed this classification by subdividing RAM sorbents with respect to their surface chemistry. Indeed, these authors discerned phases with different types of bonding in external and internal surfaces (bimodal phases) and phases with a unique bonding to both surfaces (unimodal phases). In the present paper, the RAM classification was based on the exclusion mechanism only to review the characteristics of seven commercially available RAM sorbents. The latter were applied to the direct analysis of numerous compounds in biological matrices as, reported in Table 1.

#### 2.1.1. RAM with a physical barrier

2.1.1.1. Internal surface reversed-phase. The first support for the direct injection of biological matrices was introduced, in 1985, by Hagestam and Pinkerton [22] under the trade name of internal surface reversed-phase (ISRP). This new extraction sorbent was commercialised in 1986. It is constituted of porous silica particles with the outer surface covered by a hydrophilic moiety limiting the adsorption of protein (diol-glycine groups) with a hydrophobic tripeptide partitioning phase (glycine-L-phenylalanine-L-phenylalanine or GFF) only on the internal surface. A schematic drawing of GFF material is presented in Fig. 2. When serum or plasma is directly injected onto this sorbent, macromolecules are excluded from the internal surface region by a size exclusion mechanism (physical barrier). Through enzymatic synthesis, GFF supports are characterized by a particle pore diameter of approximately 8 nm, which enables to exclude proteins larger than about 20,000 Da [22,23]. Therefore, blood protein such as albumin with a molecular weight of 65,600 can be directly eluted from the support while small molecules of interest may be retained within the pores by the tripeptide phase [23,24]. The retention mechanism is mainly due to  $\pi$ -electron interactions. An additional weak-cation exchanger functionality was demonstrated for this support due to the free carboxyl group of the terminal phenylalanine [24]. A second generation of GFF support (GFF II) was developed by Perry et al. [25] to improve performances in terms of efficiency, retentivity and reproducibility. ISRP supports allowed to withstand several hundred plasma or serum injections (total volume of 6-7 ml) without losing performance [26,27]. GFF material has been recognized as a suitable approach for the direct injection of drugs and metabolites in biological matrices [26-43]. This support also shows a real potential for the direct analysis of endogenous substances in serum [44,45] and peptides from complex extracts [46,47].

2.1.1.2. Alkyl-diol-silica material. Alkyl-diol-silica (ADS) support is certainly, with GFF sorbent, the most popular RAMs material. Produced at the beginning of the 1990's, the structure of ADS material is closed to GFF particles [48–50]. Indeed, a physical barrier (pore size 6 nm) excludes macromolecules, which are not adsorbed onto the support thanks to the hydrophilic groups (glycerylpropyl, i.e. diol moieties) bounded at the outer surface of particles (Fig. 2). The RAM phase is characterised by the different available reversed phases (C4, C8 or C18) on the internal surface. Recently, a new ADS support was developed with sulphonic acid groups bonded at the inner surface of the particles. This restricted access cation exchanger, namely XDS (exchange diol silica), demonstrated promising performances for the direct analysis of endogenous compounds [51,52] and pharmaceuticals [51] in biological fluids. The ADS column can tolerate up to 80-100 ml of plasma [50,53,54]. The LiChrospher ADS-RP was able to achieve the direct analysis of pharmaceutical compounds in several biological matrices such as plasma [49,50,53,55-73], serum [42,43,74-79], urine [60,75,76,78,80], microdialysate [81,82], saliva [64], liver homogenate [49], intestinal aspirates [76], cell cultures [68,83], bronchial secretions [74], milk [84] and tissue [67].

2.1.1.3. Porous silica covered by a combined ligand. ChromSpher BioMatrix was introduced as a new extraction sorbent for the direct injection of biological matrices [85,86]. This sorbent consists of bonded porous silica (pore size 13 nm) with a ligand possessing hydrophobic and hydrophilic properties. Alkanolic groups (polyglycidol) of the ligand prevent protein adsorption onto the particle while

Table 1 Compounds analysed by direct injection of biological matrices onto RAM

| Compounds (matrix)   | RAM sorbent                            | References   | Configuration <sup>a</sup> |
|--|--|--------------|----------------------------|
| AINS (plasma)  | LiChrospher RP-18 ADS                  | [53,71]      | CS                         |
| AINS (serum)   | BioTrap C18                            | [109]        | CS                         |
| AINS (serum)   | SPS C18, GFF, Hisep                    | [38]         | S                          |
| AINS <sup>b</sup> (aqueous humor)  | Capcell Pak MF Ph-1                    | [131]        | CS                         |
| AINS <sup>b</sup> (cell culture media)                                   | BioTrap 500 MS                         | [113]        | CS                         |
| AINS <sup>b</sup> (plasma)   | Capcell Pak MF Ph-1                    | [117]        | CS                         |
| AINS <sup>b</sup> (plasma)   | GFF                                    | [35]         | S                          |
| AINS <sup>b</sup> (serum)  | SPS C18                                | [103]        | S                          |
| Aloggin (plagma)   | Capcell Balt ME Dh 1                   | [124]        | CS                         |
| Anoxicillin (serum)  | SPS C18                                | [124]        | CS                         |
|  |  | [102]        | -<br>-                     |
| Anti-epileptic (serum)   | GFF                                    | [37]         | S                          |
| Anti-epileptic (serum)   | GFF II                                 | [31]         | 3                          |
| Antipyrine (serum)   | SPS C8                                 | [99]         | S                          |
| Anxiolytic agent CP-93 393 (plasma)                                      | BioTrap C18                            | [108]        | CS                         |
| Arachidonic acid (urine)   | LiChrospher RP-18 ADS                  | [60]         | CS                         |
| Artemisinin (plasma, saliva)   | LiChrospher RP-18 ADS                  | [64]         | CS                         |
| Asiaticoside (plasma, bile)  | Capcell Pak MF Ph-1                    | [120]        | CS                         |
| Atropine (plasma)  | LiChrospher XDS                        | [51]         | CS                         |
| Azole pesticides (urine)   | GFF II                                 | [39]         | CS                         |
| Barbiturates (plasma)  | LiChrospher RP-18 ADS                  | [63]         | CS                         |
| Barbiturates (serum)   | SPS C8. GFF. GFF II                    | [40]         | S                          |
| Barbiturates (serum)   | Capcell Pak MF Ph-1                    | [127]        | CS                         |
| Benzodiazenines (nlasma serum)   | BioTran MS                             | [110]        | CS                         |
| Benzodiazepines (plasma, serum)  | LiChrospher RP-18 ADS                  | [78]         | CS                         |
| Beta-adrenoceptor ligand (plasma)  | ChromSpher BioMatrix                   | [87,89]      | S                          |
|  |  | [67]         | ~                          |
| Beta-blockers (plasma)   | LiChrospher RP-8 ADS                   | [65]         | CS                         |
| Beta-blockers (plasma)   | BioTrap C18                            | [109]        | CS                         |
| Beta-blockers (plasma)   | LiChrospher XDS                        | [51]         | CS                         |
| Beta-blockers (plasma, microdialysate)                                   | LiChrospher RP-8 ADS                   | [81]         | CS                         |
| Beta-blockers (microdialysate)   | LiChrospher RP-18 ADS                  | [82]         | CS                         |
| Beta-blockers (serum)  | BioTrap C18                            | [109]        | CS                         |
| Beta-blockers (serum)  | GFF II, SPS C18, LiChrospher RP-18 ADS | [43]         | CS                         |
| Beta-blockers (urine)  | LiChrospher RP-18 ADS                  | [80]         | CS                         |
| Bilirubins (serum)   | GFF                                    | [45]         | S                          |
| Biphenyldimethyl dicarboxylate (plasma)                                  | Capcell Pak MF Ph-1                    | [115]        | CS                         |
| 10-Hydroxycampthotecine (serum)  | Hisep                                  | [138]        | S                          |
| Carbamazepine (serum)  | Hisep                                  | [135]        | S                          |
| Carbamazepine (serum)  | GFF                                    | [37]         | S                          |
| Carbamazepine (serum)  | SPS C8, GFF, GFF II                    | [40]         | S                          |
| Carbamazepine <sup>b</sup> (plasma)                                      | SPS C18                                | [93]         | S                          |
| Carbamazepine <sup>b</sup> (plasma)                                      | LiChrospher RP-18 ADS                  | [72]         | CS                         |
| Cardiovascular drugs (serum)   | GFF II                                 | [32]         | CS                         |
| Catecholamines (urine)   | Hisep                                  | [137]        | S                          |
| Cefniramide (nlasma)   | GFF                                    | [34]         | S                          |
| Ceftazidime (bronchial secretions serum)                                 | LiChrospher RP-8 ADS                   | [34]         | CS                         |
| Chlozovazone <sup>b</sup> (serum)  | SPS C18                                | [100]        | S                          |
| Cisanride (serum)  | Cancell Pak ME Ph-1                    | [100]        | CS                         |
| Citalonram <sup>b</sup> (plasma)   | LiChrospher $PD 4$ ADS                 | [110]        | CS                         |
| Clarbutaral (comm)   | CEE SDS C18 LiChrospher DD 18 ADS      | [33]         | CS<br>CS                   |
| Clominramine (plasma)  | Cancell Dak ME Dh 1                    | [43]         | CS                         |
| Coccine <sup>b</sup> (plasma)  | Capter I ak Mr FII-1                   | [121]        | CS                         |
| Creatining (semm)  | CEE                                    | [09]<br>[41] | CS                         |
| Dicovin (serum)  | UTT<br>LiChrospher DD 4 ADS            | [41]         | CS<br>CS                   |
| Diguali (setuli)   | CEE                                    | [7]          | CS<br>CS                   |
| Enimipioin <sup>b</sup> (plasma liver homogeneta liver tymour horsesset) | UTT<br>LiChrospher DD 4 ADS            | [4]          | CS<br>CS                   |
| Epitacanona glucuronida (rlasma)   | LiChroopher DD 19 ADS                  | [47]<br>[56] | CS                         |
| Entacapone giucutoniue (plasma)<br>Felodinine (plasma, tissue)           | LiChrospher RD 18 ADS                  | [50]         | CS                         |
| i cioupine (piasina, ussue)  | Lichtospher KI-10 ADS                  | [07]         | <b>C</b> D                 |

Table 1 (Continued)

| Compounds (matrix)  | RAM sorbent                         | References | Configuration <sup>a</sup> |
|---|-------------------------------------|------------|----------------------------|
| Fenoterol (plasma)  | LiChrospher XDS                     | [51]       | CS                         |
| Fleroxazin (serum)  | Hisep                               | [142]      | S                          |
| Flunitrazepam <sup>b</sup> (plasma)                       | BioTrap MS LiChrospher RP-18 ADS    | [57]       | CS                         |
| Furosemide (plasma)                                       | GFF                                 | [35]       | S                          |
| Granisetron <sup>b</sup> (plasma)                         | GFF II                              | [26]       | CS                         |
| Heroin <sup>b</sup> (urine)                               | Capcell Pak MF SCX                  | [134]      | CS                         |
| 4-Hydroxyanisol (serum)                                   | GFF                                 | [30]       | S                          |
| Indoxyl sulfate (serum)                                   | GFF                                 | [44]       | S                          |
| Ipratropium (plasma)                                      | LiChrospher XDS                     | [51]       | CS                         |
| Lamotrigine (plasma, serum)                               | GFF                                 | [28]       | S                          |
| Linezolid (serum, urine)                                  | LiChrospher RP-8 ADS                | [75]       | CS                         |
| Local anaesthetics (plasma)                               | SPS C8                              | [92]       | CS                         |
| Local anaesthetics (plasma)                               | LiChrospher RP-18 ADS               | [59]       | CS                         |
| Matrix metalloprotease inhibitors (plasma)                | SPS C18                             | [95]       | CS                         |
| Meropenem (bronchial secretions, serum)                   | LiChrospher RP-18 ADS               | [74]       | CS                         |
| Methadone <sup>b</sup> (serum)                            | GFF II, LiChrospher RP-4 ADS        | [42]       | S, CS                      |
| Methotrexate <sup>b</sup> (plasma)                        | LiChrospher RP-8 ADS                | [61,62]    | CS                         |
| 8-Methoxysporalen (plasma)                                | LiChrospher RP-8 ADS                | [50]       | CS                         |
| Mitomycin C (plasma)                                      | Capcell Pak MF Ph-1                 | [118]      | S                          |
| Montelukast sodium (plasma)                               | Capcell Pak MF Ph-1                 | [119]      | CS                         |
| Mycophenolic acid (serum)                                 | Capcell Pak MF Ph-1                 | [133]      | CS                         |
| Neuropeptide Y (plasma)                                   | LiChrospher XDS                     | [52]       | CS                         |
| Nitrendipine (plasma, tissue)                             | LiChrospher RP-18 ADS               | [67]       | CS                         |
| NTBC <sup>c</sup> (plasma)                                | BioTrap C18                         | [107]      | CS                         |
| Omeprazole <sup>b</sup> (plasma)                          | Capcell Pak MF Ph-1                 | [130]      | CS                         |
| Oxytetracycline (serum)                                   | Hisep                               | [139]      | S                          |
| Paclitaxel (plasma)                                       | LiChrospher RP-4 ADS                | [58]       | CS                         |
| Paraquat (plasma)   | LiChrospher RP-18 ADS               | [73]       | CS                         |
| Pentoxifylline (plasma)                                   | Hisep                               | [141]      | S                          |
| Pirlindol (plasma)  | LiChrospher RP-4 ADS                | [66]       | CS                         |
| Procaine (plasma)   | LiChrospher XDS                     | [51]       | CS                         |
| Propatenone <sup>6</sup> (serum)                          | LiChrospher RP-18 ADS               | [77]       | CS                         |
| Propentofylline (serum)                                   | Hisep                               | [140]      | CS                         |
| Propotol (plasma)   | GFF                                 | [36]       | S                          |
| Proton pump inhibitor (KR60436)° (plasma)                 | Capcell Pak MF Ph-1                 | [129]      | CS                         |
| Ritapentine <sup>o</sup> (plasma)                         | Hisep                               | [143]      | S                          |
| Ropivacaine and bupivacaine (plasma)                      | SPS C18                             | [94]       | CS<br>CS                   |
| Salbutamol (serum)  | GFF, SPS C18, LiChrospher RP-18 ADS | [43]       | CS                         |
| Sildenani <sup>o</sup> (plasma)                           | Capcell Pak MF Ph-1                 | [125]      | CS                         |
| Steroid compounds (liver microsomes)                      | BioTrap C18                         | [111]      | CS                         |
| Steroid compounds (plasma)                                | LiChrospher RP-18 ADS               | [60]       | CS                         |
| Steroid compounds (cell culture)                          | LiChrospher RP-4 ADS                | [83]       | CS                         |
| Steroid compounds (hepatocytes)                           | BioTrap 500 MS                      | [112]      | CS                         |
| Sulfamonomethoxine miloxacin oxolinic acid (serum muscle) | Hisep                               | [144]      | S                          |
| Sulfamonomethoxine <sup>b</sup> (serum)                   | Hisep                               | [136]      | S                          |
| Tamovifen <sup>b</sup> (plasma)                           | SPS CN                              | [97]       | CS                         |
| Terbutaline (plasma)                                      | LiChrospher XDS                     | [51]       | CS                         |
| Tetracyclines (urine)                                     | ChromSpher BioMatrix                | [88]       | CS                         |
| Thiacetazone (nlasma)                                     | Cancell Pak MF Ph-1                 | [126]      | S                          |
| Tofisonam (serum)   | Capcell Pak MF Ph-1                 | [132]      | ČS.                        |
| Trimethoprim (milk)                                       | LiChrospher RP-18 ADS               | [84]       | CS                         |
| Vancomycin (serum)  | SPS C8                              | [104]      | S                          |
| Varanamilb (aamum)  | llicen                              | [101]      | c                          |
| Verapanini (serum)  |                                     | [101]      | 5<br>CS                    |
| Veranamil <sup>b</sup> (cell culture plasma)              | JIJ CO<br>LiChrospher DD & ADS      | [101]      | CS                         |
| verapanini (cen cunture, piasilia)                        | Exhibiting ADS                      | լսօյ       | 0                          |
| YM087, YM440° (plasma)                                    | LiChrospher RP-18 ADS               | [70]       | CS                         |

<sup>a</sup> S: single column configuration, CS: column-switching configuration.
<sup>b</sup> Metabolites.
<sup>c</sup> 2-(2-Nitro-4-trifluoromethylbenzoyl)-1,3-cyclohexanedione.



Fig. 2. Internal surface reversed-phase (ISRP) with GFF groups and alkyl-diol-silica (ADS) with alkyl chains.

phenyl groups provide hydrophobic interaction with small analytes (Fig. 3). ChromSpher Biomatrix supports have been applied to the direct analysis of small compounds from several complex matrices [85–89].

# 2.1.2. RAM with a chemical barrier

2.1.2.1. Semi-permeable surface. Desilets et al. [21] demonstrated that polyoxyethylene polymer bonded to the surface of a reversed-phase chromatographic packing (i.e. C8 or C18 phase) formed a semi-permeable hydrophilic layer which can restrict protein access to the underlying hydrophobic stationary phase. On this basis, another RAM sorbent was developed under the trade name of semi-permeable surface phase (SPS; Fig. 4) [40,90]. SPS material has outer and inner moieties independently synthesized and covalently grafted at the surface of the silica particle. The outer surface repels large molecules such as proteins, while the inner surface can be any of several common hydrophobic-reversed phases. Small analytes, which can penetrate through the polymer layer, interact with the hydrophobic sites. SPS materials with different inner



Fig. 3. Porous silica covered by a combined ligand.



Fig. 4. Semi-permeable surface and protein-coated silica supports.

surfaces (nitrile, phenyl, C8 and C18) are commercially available. The life span of SPS material has been found equivalent to ADS material [91]. Indeed, up to 50 ml of plasma can be loaded on this extraction sorbent [92]. SPS material has been successfully applied to the analysis of small molecules in biological fluids [38,43,92–104].

2.1.2.2. Protein-coated silica. Protein-coated silica material is based on macromolecule exclusion by a chemical diffusion barrier, as previously described. However, this sorbent uses a protein network at the outer surface instead of a polymer (Fig. 4). This extraction support developed for the direct injection of biological fluids, was introduced by Hermansson and Grahn in 1994 [105] and was commercialized under the trade name of BioTrap [106]. This material is constituted of porous silica particles with the outer surface covered with the human plasma protein;  $\alpha_1$ -acid glycoprotein (AGP). This makes the external surface of the particles compatible with a proteineous sample which cannot penetrate into small pores (10 nm). Hydrophobic groups (C8 or C18) at the inner surface are responsible for interaction with small analytes. Protein-coated silica material has exhibited good performances for the analysis of pharmaceutical compounds in biological matrices [31,107,108]. BioTrap can tolerate up to 30 ml of biological fluids without notable performance deterioration [109]. Nowadays, the BioTrap support is available with a hydrophobic polymer (BioTrap MS) and presents the advantage of being used in a wider pH range (from 2 to 10) than a silica material (pH range from 2.5 to 7.5). This new support generation was successfully used for the analysis of drugs in biological matrices [57,110–113].

2.1.2.3. Mixed-functional material. In 1994, a silicone polymer-coated mixed-functional silica material was introduced by Kanda et al. [114] for the direct injection of biological fluids. This concept of mixed-function extraction phase was commercialised under the Capcell Pak MF trade name. Both internal and external surfaces consist of



Fig. 5. Mixed-functional material.

a mixture of hydrophilic polyoxyethylene and hydrophobic styrene groups grafted on silicone polymer-coated silica (8 nm). The long polyoxyethylene chains limit the access to macromolecules. Therefore, matrix components interact only with the hydrophilic, non-adsorptive polymer network and elute in the void volume. Several extraction materials with phenyl, C8 and strong-cation exchanger (SCX) moieties instead of styrene groups are available. Small analytes are retained on the bonded hydrophobic or ion exchanger groups. This extraction sorbent is represented in Fig. 5. Several ml of biological fluids can be directly injected on this extraction material without loss of performances [115,116]. Capcell Pak MF [115–133] and Capcell Pak SCX [134] materials were suitable tools for the direct determination of drug-containing biofluids.

2.1.2.4. Shielded hydrophobic phase. In 1988, a new design for direct injection analysis was developed by Gisch et al. [135] and termed shielded hydrophobic phase (SHP). This extraction support was introduced on the market under the name of Hisep. This sorbent is a silica-based material covered with a hydrophilic network of polyethylene oxide with embedded hydrophobic phenyl groups (Fig. 6). Macromolecules are prevented from contact with the surface by hydrophilic shielding. Small molecules can penetrate through the polymer layer and interact with hydrophobic groups. Hisep column can tolerate 16 ml of serum without significant loss of performance [136]. Hisep material was used for the direct analysis of endogenous compounds [137] and pharmaceuticals in biological matrices [101,135,136,138–144].

# 2.2. Large particle supports

# 2.2.1. Concept of large particle supports

Another approach for the direct injection of biological fluids is the use of large particle supports. These extrac-



Fig. 6. Shielded hydrophobic phase.

tion supports are packed with particles whose diameter is  $30-50 \,\mu\text{m}$  permitting to apply a high mobile phase flow rate without generating high backpressure in the system. Under these conditions, the rapid percolation of proteins and other hydrophilic endogenous material through the extraction support can be performed while analytes are retained by means of hydrophobic interactions. This extraction technique was patented in 1997 by Quinn and Takarewski, under the name of turbulent flow chromatography [145]. In fact, this concept had already appeared in the 1960's as a new approach for performing fast analysis in open tubular column [146] and in the 1980's in packed columns [147].

The choice of the flow rate can be considered as the key parameter of the extraction procedure. Indeed, Wu et al. [148] demonstrated that under high (turbulent) flow rate, LPS tolerated several hundred plasma injections of 100  $\mu$ l without any deterioration of the system, whereas, under conventional (laminar) flow rate, extraction supports were rapidly damaged. According to the authors, eddy strengths, generated by a high flow rate, allow to extricate large molecules blocked in a small channel (Fig. 7). Then, macromolecules can be directed towards another larger pathway and pass though the extraction support without plugging the system. A schematic representation of the improved mass transfer produced by eddies, under high flow rate conditions, is reported in Fig. 8.

#### 2.2.2. Available LPS

The description of LPS is very simple. Indeed, LPS supports are packed with commonly used chromatographic stationary phases. The main differences between conventional LC material and LPS are particle and column diameters. Given the high mobile phase flow rate, the extraction column is packed with large particles and is usually commercialized in microbore column dimension to ensure



Fig. 7. Schematic drawing of LPS with eddies strengths implied to the protein exclusion mechanism.

compatibility with conventional LC systems. Generally, a flow rate of  $3-5 \text{ ml min}^{-1}$  is applied onto a LPS column of 1 mm i.d. [149–152].

Different stationary phases have been introduced on the market such as micro and capillary columns packed with  $50-60 \,\mu\text{m}$  particles of various sorbents. Two types of stationary phases can be distinguished: (1) silica particles coated by classical alkyl chains (C2, C8 or C18), phenyl groups or mixed apolar/polar phase and (2) polymeric particles (styren-divinylbenzene cross-linked copolymer). An extraction column packed with a polymeric sorbent (divinylbenzene-*N*-vinylpyrrolidone copolymer) is available under the name of Oasis HLB. A Oasis cation exchanger (MCX) is also commercialized.

Table 2 offers a survey of the applications of these extraction supports.

#### 2.3. Monolithic phases

Recently introduced to achieve fast chromatographic separation [153,154], monolithic phases are also suitable for the direct injection of biological fluids. Thanks to their high permeability [153,154], the extraction of biological samples can also be performed with a high flow rate without generating high backpressure. However, in this case, the flow rate remains laminar and is 5–10 times higher than generally used with conventional supports. It is note-worthy that, contrary to RAM and LPS, monolithic phases

produced by the sol-gel polymerisation technology do not require frits at column extremities, which often remain the main source of endogenous material adsorption. Plumb et al. [155] have demonstrated that monolithic supports can tolerate several ml of plasma without significant performance degradation. Commercialized monolithic columns also exhibited good performances for the analysis by direct injection of a drug cocktail in human plasma [156]. However, the number of commercially available monolithic columns is limited and their dimensions (i.e. 4.6 mm i.d.) are not really adapted to extraction procedures with conventional instrumentation. Therefore, monolithic supports cladded in miniaturized column dimension are necessary to implement this material in clinical and pharmaceutical laboratories.

#### 3. On-line sample preparation set-up

The supports reviewed in this paper have been developed to tolerate the direct and repetitive injection of biological fluids with different designs and functionalities. These supports can be integrated in an analytical system to automate the sample purification step. Two configurations have been described: in the first device, called single column or direct configuration, the extraction support is directly connected to a detector. In this case, the support is used for the extraction and separation steps. The second configuration is based on an extraction support and an analytical column coupled with a switching-valve. This configuration, termed column-switching, only uses the support as extraction pre-column.

# 3.1. Direct mode configuration

In the direct mode configuration, the analytical procedure involves three steps: (1) sample extraction; (2) analyte elution; and (3) re-equilibration of the extraction support. The single column configuration is represented in Fig. 9.

Firstly, the biological fluid is injected onto the extraction support with an appropriate mobile phase. During this extraction step, analytes are retained while endogenous components are eluted within the void volume. Afterwards, analytes are eluted from the support to the detector. Finally, the extraction support is re-conditioned with the loading mobile phase and is ready for the next injection.



Fig. 8. Conventional and high flow rate in packed column.

Table 2

Compounds analysed by direct injection of biological matrices onto LPS

| Compounds (matrix)  | LPS sorbent               | References    | Configuration <sup>a</sup> |
|---|---------------------------|---------------|----------------------------|
| Adatenserine (microsomal incubate)  | HTLC C8                   | [191]         | CS                         |
| Aminopterin (plasma)  | Oasis HLB                 | [192]         | S, CS                      |
| Apomorphine (plasma)  | Oasis HLB                 | [192]         | S, CS                      |
| Benzoylecgonine (plasma)  | Oasis HLB                 | [192]         | S, CS                      |
| Benzoylecgonine (plasma)  | Oasis HLB                 | [193]         | CS                         |
| Beta-lactam <sup>b</sup> (plasma)   | Oasis HLB                 | [177]         | CS                         |
| Catechins (plasma)  | HTLC C18                  | [194]         | CS                         |
| Citalopram, fluvoxamine, paroxetine (plasma)                                | Oasis HLB                 | [195]         | CS                         |
| Clemastine, diflunisal (plasma)   | Oasis HLB                 | [190]         | S, CS                      |
| Clozapine, olanzepine <sup>b</sup> (plasma)                                 | Oasis HLB                 | [183]         | CS                         |
| Dofetilide (plasma)   | HTLC C18                  | [187]         | CS                         |
| Doxazosin (plasma)  | HTLC C18                  | [187]         | CS                         |
| Fenfluramine (plasma)   | Oasis HLB                 | [184]         | CS                         |
| Guanidine-containing drug (plasma)  | Oasis HLB                 | [189]         | CS                         |
| Haloperidol (microsomal incubate)   | HTLC C8                   | [191]         | CS                         |
| Haloperidol (plasma)  | Oasis HLB                 | [193]         | CS                         |
| Isoquinoline compound (plasma)  | Oasis HLB                 | [160,161,163] | S                          |
| Isoquinoline compound (plasma)  | Explorer C18 <sup>c</sup> | [160]         | S                          |
| Ketoconazole (plasma)   | HTLC C18                  | [188]         | CS                         |
| Melatonin (serum)   | Oasis HLB                 | [196]         | S                          |
| Methotrexate (plasma)   | Oasis HLB                 | [197]         | CS                         |
| Narcotic (plasma)   | Oasis HLB                 | [17]          | S                          |
| Oxazepam, alprozolam, carbamazepam, clobazam, estazolam, temazepam (plasma) | Oasis HLB                 | [184]         | CS                         |
| Oxazepam, alprozolam, carbamazepam, clobazam, estazolam, temazepam (plasma) | Oasis HLB                 | [192]         | S, CS                      |
| Oxazepam, alprozolam, carbamazepam, clobazam, estazolam, temazepam (plasma) | Oasis HLB                 | [193]         | CS                         |
| Oxycodone (plasma)  | Oasis HLB                 | [193]         | CS                         |
| Phentolamine (plasma)   | Oasis HLB                 | [193]         | CS                         |
| Pravastatine <sup>b</sup> (serum)   | Oasis HLB                 | [159]         | S, CS                      |
| Propranolol (plasma, urine)   | Oasis HLB, Oasis MCX      | [198]         | CS                         |
| Promethazine <sup>b</sup> (urine)   | Oasis HLB                 | [152]         | CS                         |
| Puromycin (plasma)  | Oasis HLB                 | [193]         | CS                         |
| Simvastatin <sup>b</sup> (plasma)   | Oasis HLB                 | [151]         | CS                         |
| Tamoxifen (plasma)  | Oasis HLB                 | [184,193]     | CS                         |
| Terbinafine (plasma)  | HTLC C18                  | [149]         | CS                         |
| Tetracyclines (kidney)  | Oasis HLB                 | [164]         | S                          |
| Triprolidine (plasma)   | Oasis HLB                 | [193]         | CS                         |
| Vancomvcin (serum urine)  | Oasis HLB                 | [186]         | CS                         |
| Venlafaxine (microsomal incubate)   | HTLC C8                   | [191]         | CS                         |
| Tricyclic antidepressants (plasma)  | Oasis HLB                 | [17]          | S                          |
| Tricyclic antidepressants (plasma)  | Oasis HLB                 | [199]         | CS                         |
| Others <sup>d</sup>   |                           |               |                            |
| Anticanceral drug (plasma)  | Polar Plus                | [200]         | CS                         |
| Drugs A, B (plasma)   | Oasis HLB                 | [165]         | S                          |
| Drugs A, B (plasma)   | HTLC C18                  | [165]         | S                          |
| Compounds I, II (plasma)  | Oasis HLB                 | [150]         | CS                         |
| Compound A (plasma)   | Cyclone                   | [201]         | CS                         |
|   |                           |               |                            |

<sup>a</sup> S: single column configuration, CS: column-switching configuration.

<sup>b</sup> Metabolites.

<sup>c</sup> Old version of HTLC C18 from Cohesive Technologies.

<sup>d</sup> Not revealed.

According to the nature of the extraction supports and detection system, two different approaches can be discerned. Indeed, RAM and LPS belong to two different generations of extraction supports and their development were mainly influenced by the properties of the detection system. As previously mentioned, RAM columns appeared in the middle of the 1980's when the UV spectrophotometer was the current detection system. Consequently, given the relatively low selectivity of UV detection, special focus was given to the chromatographic efficiency of these extraction sup-



Fig. 9. Single column configuration.

ports commercialized in conventional column dimensions. Concerning LPS, the latter were introduced 10 years later and were generally coupled directly to a mass spectrometer which appears to be the system of choice thanks to its high selectivity and sensitivity. In this context, LPS in short column dimensions were developed with a special emphasis on high throughput analysis.

#### 3.1.1. Single column mode with UV detection

In order to evaluate their potential, first commercialized RAM supports (ISRP and SHP) for the direct analysis of compounds in biological fluids, were integrated in direct mode with UV detection [30,34,36,37,40,44,135,141,143]. These extraction supports packed in columns with a conventional dimension (i.e. 150-250 mm length, 4.6 mm i.d.) not only allowed extraction but also chromatographic separation. In this context, Riva et al. [143] developed a direct method for the simultaneous determination of rifapentine and its metabolite in plasma, based on the extraction and complete analyte separation onto a Hisep column (150 mm × 4.6 mm i.d.) [143]. An ISRP column  $(250 \text{ mm} \times 4.6 \text{ mm i.d.})$  also allowed extraction from serum and separation of three anti-epileptic drugs with a sufficient resolution [37]. Due to good method performances in terms of precision, trueness and robustness, many methods based on single column configuration and UV detection have recently been published. In 1999, Haque and Stewart [38] developed and validated a method for the analysis of several non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDS) in serum with ISRP and SPS columns coupled to a UV detector. Recently, a quantitative analysis of vancomycin in serum was performed onto SPS supports connected to a UV detection [104]. Generally, total analysis time (TAT), including sample preparation and analyte separation steps is superior to 15 min.

However, due to the small injection volume (i.e.  $5-50 \,\mu$ l) and the low sensitivity of UV detection, these methods suffer from low sensitivity. For example, with a direct injection of 10  $\mu$ l of plasma onto a GFF support (150 mm × 4.6 mm i.d.) coupled to a UV detector, Pullen et al. [36] obtained a limit of detection of 1  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup> for propofol. In order to improve the sensitivity of single column methods using conventional UV detection, extraction supports packed in smaller diameter columns are recommended [157,158]. However, RAM supports packed in semi-micro (2 mm i.d.) or in micro (1 mm i.d.) columns are not yet commercially available.

LPS in a single column configuration using UV detection are not recommended since they present low chromatographic performances [159].

#### 3.1.2. Single column mode with MS detection

In the beginning of the 1990's, the introduction of mass spectrometry equipped with atmospheric pressure ionisation (API) techniques such as electrospray ionisation (ESI) and atmospheric pressure chemical ionisation (APCI) compatible with liquid chromatography contributed to the development of LPS supports for performing high-throughput analysis. Fast and sensitive analytical methods based on the use of an extraction support coupled to MS were developed for the determination of drugs and metabolites in biofluids [17,42,159–165].

Thanks to its high selectivity, LC–MS methods were developed with short extraction columns packed with LPS supports. Consequently, incomplete analyte separation and high flow rates contributed to the speeding up of the process. Indeed, a TAT of less than 3 min was achieved [17,160,161,165–167]. Ding and Neue [17] developed a fast method for the analysis of drugs in biological fluids. The procedure was based on an Oasis HLB support coupled to MS and was achieved in 1.3 min. A similar configuration was successfully applied to determine a novel isoquinoline drug in biological fluids with an analysis time of 1.2 min [161].

In order to increase the sample throughput, multiple analyses can be achieved [5,168]. Bayliss et al. [163] reported a system with four LPS coupled in parallel to the MS with a multi-sprayer interface which allows the analysis of 120 plasma samples per hour.

Given the high MS sensitivity, compounds can be extracted and analyzed at the ng ml<sup>-1</sup> level in complex matrices [159,161,165]. Jemal et al. [159,167] developed a single column method with an Oasis HLB support coupled to a triple quadrupole mass spectrometer for the on-line extraction of a pharmaceutical compound in plasma. Method sensitivity can be improved with smaller i.d. columns [157,158]. Ayrton et al. [162] developed a method with a LPS column on the capillary scale (180  $\mu$ m i.d.) for the direct analysis of isoquinoline drug in plasma at sub ng ml<sup>-1</sup> concentrations.

To our knowledge, only few papers describe RAM supports directly coupled to MS detection. Ortelli et al. [42] developed a method with a GFF column connected to ESI-MS detector for the analysis of methadone and its primary metabolite in serum. Mixed-functional material was coupled to a triple quadrupole mass spectrometer for the analysis of drug cocktails in plasma [122,128].

*3.1.2.1. MS requirements.* With MS detection in a single column configuration, some points have to be considered:

- An additional switching-valve is required to avoid contamination of the MS source with the biological material. A schema of the single column mode with MS detection is shown in Fig. 9. During the extraction step, the valve is in position A and the effluent containing endogenous components is directed to waste. After elution of the biomaterial, the valve is switched to position B and analytes are eluted from the extraction support to the MS detector.
- With regard to LC–MS techniques, a selection of mobile phase constituents has to be performed. Indeed, non-volatile mobile phase constituents such as phosphate buffers and ion-pairing agents have to be avoided. Mobile phases must be suitable for sample loading, analyte elution and compatible with MS detection. Guidelines for LC–MS operating conditions are described elsewhere [169,170].
- Compatibility between the mobile phase flow rate and the MS source is of utmost importance. Flow rates of  $5-10 \,\mu l \,min^{-1}$  and  $50-200 \,\mu l \,min^{-1}$  were generally applied with ESI and pneumatically-assisted ESI techniques, respectively [171]. Despite several efforts engaged to develop MS interfaces compatible with high flow rates [172], a flow splitter is necessary when extraction supports operate at a high flow rate. An elegant solution is to use extraction columns with a small i.d. operating at a low flow rate and which allows sensitivity improvement.
- The absence of selectivity, which speeds up the analytical process, can become an important limitation. Indeed, the co-elution of analytes and interfering substances in biological matrices can modify the MS response of the target molecules [8,173]. This undesirable phenomenon, termed matrix effect, can considerably affect the analytical performances of the method [174,175]. During method development, special attention has to be paid to the absence of matrix effect. Biotransformation products can also hamper the quantitative determination of compounds in biological matrices by LC-MS [176,177]. Analysis of isomeric compounds can also become a real problem [159]. Therefore, despite high MS selectivity, chromatographic separation remains essential. In this context, the coupling of an analytical column to the extraction support (i.e. column-switching configuration) appears as a suitable alternative.

#### 3.2. Column-switching configuration

In the last decades, the column-switching configuration has proved to be a useful approach for the determination of compounds in biological matrices [54,178–181]. The extraction support, used for the extraction and/or pre-concentration of the sample, is coupled to an analytical column allowing the separation of analytes before detection. For this purpose, an additional pump and a switching-valve are required. A schematic representation of a column-switching configuration working in backflush mode is reported in Fig. 10.

During the extraction step, the switching-valve is in position A. The sample is injected into the extraction pre-column with the loading mobile phase. Simultaneously, the analytical column is conditioned with an elution mobile phase. After the extraction, the valve is switched to position B. Analytes are eluted in backflush mode from the extraction support with the mobile phase and transferred to the analytical column. Afterwards, the valve is switched to its initial position (position A). Analytes are separated onto the analytical column and directed to the detector. Simultaneously, the extraction pre-column is re-equilibrated with the loading mobile phase. Finally, the system is ready for the next sample injection.

In recent years, RAM and LPS have been widely used in the column-switching device. Independently of the extrac-



Fig. 10. Column-switching configuration.

tion support, this configuration offers great selectivity and sensitivity.

# 3.2.1. Selectivity

In the column-switching configuration, short extraction columns, termed pre-column, are generally used. A pre-column allows to extract analytes from endogenous material while chromatographic separation between analytes is performed in the analytical column. The column-switching device affords significant flexibility to the system because various extraction and analytical columns with different selectivities can be used. The conventional RP-18 stationary phase has been the most popular analytical column integrated in a column-switching system [39,42,50,88,95,111, 119,151,182,183]. An example is the method described for the determination of five benzodiazepines in serum and urine [78]. After sample extraction onto a LiChrospher RP-18 ADS, separation was performed on a C<sub>18</sub> analytical column. An octadecyl analytical column coupled to a pre-column packed with large particles was also found suitable for the simultaneous analysis of methadone and its primary metabolite in plasma [182]. Octyl [26,49], phenyl [55,108], cyano [97,152], mixed-mode [69] and carbonaceous [94] analytical columns coupled to different extraction pre-columns were also suitable for the analysis of several compounds in biological matrices. Recently, Zeng et al. [184] developed a column-switching method using an Oasis HLB coupled to a monolithic column for the analysis of a drug cocktail in plasma. This configuration allowed a fast analyte transfer from the pre-column to the analytical column because the high flow rate on the monolithic phase can be applied on the LPS supports for analyte desorption without high back-pressure. Under these conditions, the TAT was of 2 min.

Concerning the analyte time transfer, it is recommended for an efficient separation, to use an extraction sorbent less retentive than the chromatographic support. Indeed, analyte elution from the extraction support must be performed in a small mobile phase volume to avoid peak broadening which could negatively affect the separation [54].

Using a chiral stationary phase (CSP) in column-switching configuration is a powerful technique for the stereoselective analysis of drugs in biological fluids, as already demonstrated [185]. Various CSP with different chiral selectors, such as cyclodextrins [98], cellulose derivatives [63,66], proteins [53] and antibiotics [65,82], have been successfully coupled to extraction pre-columns. A typical application is a CSP packed with human serum albumin as selector coupled to a LiChrospher RP-18 ADS for the determination of ketoprofen enantiomers in plasma [53]. Biological samples are injected onto the extraction support with a phosphate buffer and, after the extraction step, analytes are backflushed to the chiral column, with a loading mobile phase constituted of a mixture of phosphate buffer, propanol and octanoic acid.

#### 3.2.2. Sensitivity

On-line sample extraction based on a column-switching device is characterized by high sensitivity. Indeed, a pre-concentration step based on a large injection volume of the biological sample onto the extraction support can be performed. Gordi et al. [64] developed a sensitive method for the quantification of artemisinin in saliva and plasma. With the injection of 1 ml of saliva on a LiChrospher ADS coupled to an octadecyl column and a UV detection, concentrations down to 2 ng ml<sup>-1</sup> were quantified. The limit of detection was of 30 ng ml<sup>-1</sup> for several local anaesthetics injected with a volume of 500 µl of plasma onto a SPS pre-column integrated in a column-switching device with UV detection [92]. Song and Putcha [152] described a method for the simultaeous analysis of promethazine and three metabolites in urine with an injection volume of 1-2 ml onto an Oasis HLB extraction support. With UV detection, analyte concentrations were between 10 and  $20 \text{ ng ml}^{-1}$ . Sensitive column-switching methods using a derivatisation procedure were described [61,97]. Yu et al. [61] induced a post-column photochemical reaction in a column-switching device for the determination of methotrexate and its metabolite in plasma. The system consisted of a LiChrospher ADS RP-8 coupled to an octadecyl analytical column, followed by a photoreactor and fluorimetric detection. With an injected plasma volume of 100 µl, analyte concentrations were detected up to  $2 \text{ ng ml}^{-1}$ .

Method sensitivity was improved with mass spectrometry. A highly sensitive column-switching method based on a GFF II pre-column and a triple quadrupole mass spectrometer was described for the quantitation of granisetron and its metabolite in plasma [26]. With an injection volume of 80  $\mu$ l, the concentration at sub-ng ml<sup>-1</sup> level for each analyte was quantified. Similar performances were obtained for the analysis of pravastatine and its positional isomer biotransformation product in serum using an LPS [159]. The method allowed to quantify of analytes in serum at 0.5 ng ml<sup>-1</sup>.

#### 3.2.3. Analysis time

The TAT depends on the pre-column and the analytical column. With LPS, which allow a rapid extraction step due to the high mobile phase flow rate applied, chromatography is often the limiting step. In order to reduce the latter, short analytical columns packed with small particles operated at high flow rates are coupled to the extraction supports. Under this configuration, TAT are less than 5 min [151,177,182,186-189]. In the case of RAM sorbents, TAT depends not only on the separation time but also on the extraction time. Indeed, conventional flow rates are used for sample extraction on RAM supports and total analysis time are usually longer to 5 min [42,43,67,78,88,95,108,123,140]. Nevertheless, alkyl-diol-silica material have, recently, been found suitable for a fast and efficient sample extraction at a high flow rate [16,167]. In this context, a mobile phase at 4 ml min<sup>-1</sup>, applied to a 25 mm  $\times$  2 mm i.d. LiChrospher

As described previously for the single column mode, the sample throughput can be increased by combining several supports in parallel via 10-port or 6-port switching-valves [5,168]. A typical system connects an analytical column to two alternating extraction pre-columns. With this device, one of the extraction supports was re-equilibrated while chromatographic separation was performed on the analytical column coupled on-line with the second extraction column. Therefore, analyses were performed in parallel and no re-equilibration time of the extraction support was added to the overall analytical process. This approach was applied for the determination of granisetron and its metabolite in plasma [26]. Alternate injections of biological sample were performed onto two GFF II pre-columns in a parallel configuration coupled to an octyl silica analytical column. With this set-up, a TAT was of 6 min. A similar configuration based on RAM sorbents such as LiChrospher ADS [76] or BioTrap [108] coupled to a conventional analytical column were described for the analysis of drugs and metabolites in various biological samples. Xia et al. [189] developed a high-throughput method which allowed the analysis of guanidine drugs in plasma injected in two LPS extraction supports coupled to an octadecyl analytical column in less than 2 min. A similar process was applied for the determination of acidic and basic drugs in plasma [190].

# 4. Conclusion

Dedicated extraction supports such as RAM and LPS which allow direct and repetitive injection of biological fluids have revolutioned the field of bioanalysis. Compared to conventional extraction techniques in off-line mode such as LLE, SPE, these extraction supports, integrated in a LC system, allow the automation, speed-up and simplification of the extraction step. Nowadays, various classes of extraction supports with different functionalities and properties are commercially available.

RAM and LPS in single column mode were applied for the analysis of different compounds in various biological matrices by direct injection. Despite satisfactory analytical performances, this configuration presents some limitations in terms of selectivity and sensitivity. To overcome these drawbacks, column-switching emerged as an attractive alternative. Indeed, this configuration offers a great opportunity to minimize interferences and enhance the system selectivity and sensitivity. Thanks to their high versatility, column-switching methods including RAM or LPS exhibited excellent performances for the analysis of a wide range of substances in different matrices.

Because of the bioanalytical potential of RAM and LPS sorbents and their increasing popularity, the development

of new supports based on various column dimensions and chemical properties and compatible with LC–UV and LC–MS methods is certainly the next step in on-line extraction research.

#### References

- M. Gilar, E.S.P. Bouvier, B.J. Compton, J. Chromatogr. A 909 (2001) 111.
- [2] M.C. Hennion, J. Chromatogr. A 856 (1999) 3.
- [3] P. Hubert, A. Ceccato, P. Chiap, B. Toussaint, J. Crommen, STP Pharma Pratiques 9 (1999) 160.
- [4] T.R. Krishnan, I. Ibraham, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 12 (1994) 287.
- [5] M. Jemal, Biomed. Chromatogr. 14 (2000) 422.
- [6] C.K. Lim, TrAC 7 (1988) 340.
- [7] R.D. Mc Dowall, J. Chromatogr. 492 (1989) 3.
- [8] R. Bonfiglio, R.C. King, T.V. Olah, K. Merkle, Rapid Commun. Mass. Spectrom. 13 (1999) 1175.
- [9] A.L. Dawidowicz, E. Fornal, A. Fijalkowska, Chromatographia 47 (1998) 523.
- [10] J.C. Kraak, F. Smedes, J.W.A. Meijer, Chromatographia 13 (1980) 673.
- [11] W. Naidong, H. Bu, Y.L. Chen, W.Z.J.X. Shou, T.D.J. Halls, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 28 (2002) 1115.
- [12] C. Polson, P. Sarkar, B. Incledon, V. Raguvaran, R. Grant, J. Chromatogr. B 785 (2003) 263.
- [13] K.S. Boos, A. Rudolphi, LC GC 15 (1997) 602.
- [14] K.S. Boos, C.H. Grimm, TrAC 18 (1999) 175.
- [15] A. Rudolphi, K.S. Boos, LC GC 15 (1997) 814.
- [16] C. Schafer, D. Lubda, K.S. Boos, K.K. Unger, Bioforum Int. 5 (2001) 120.
- [17] J. Ding, U.D. Neue, Rapid Commun. Mass. Spectrom. 13 (1999) 2151.
- [18] T. Edge, Int. Labmate 27 (2002) 70.
- [19] J.L. Herman, Rapid Commun. Mass. Spectrom. 16 (2002) 421.
- [20] D. Zimmer, V. Pickard, W. Czembor, C. Muller, Chromatographia 52 (2000) S-26.
- [21] C.P. Desilets, M.A. Rounds, F.E. Regnier, J. Chromatogr. 544 (1991) 25.
- [22] H. Hagestam, T.C. Pinkerton, Anal. Chem. 57 (1985) 1757.
- [23] S.E. Cook, T.C. Pinkerton, J. Chromatogr. 368 (1986) 233.
- [24] T. Nakagawa, A. Shibukawa, N. Shimono, T. Kawashima, H. Tanaka, J. Chromatogr. 420 (1987) 297.
- [25] J.A. Perry, B. Invergo, H. Wagner, T.J. Szczerba, J.D. Rateike, J. Liq. Chromatogr. 15 (1992) 3343.
- [26] V.K. Boppana, C. Miller-Stein, W.H. Schaefer, J. Chromatogr. B 678 (1996) 227.
- [27] S.C. Ruckmick, B.D. Hench, J. Chromatogr. 565 (1991) 277.
- [28] D. Croci, A. Salmaggi, U. De Gracia, G. Bernardi, Ther. Drug Monit. 23 (2001) 665.
- [29] T. Mohammad, H. Morrison, J. Chromatogr. 533 (1990) 195.
- [30] C.M. Dawson, H.J.C.R. Belcher, S.J. Rainbow, T.R. Tickner, J. Chromatogr. 534 (1990) 267.
- [31] B.J. Gurley, M. Marx, K. Olsen, J. Chromatogr. B 670 (1995) 358.
- [32] F. Mangani, G. Luck, C. Fraudeau, E. Vérette, J. Chromatogr. A 762 (1997) 235.
- [33] S.A. Matlin, C. Thomas, P.M. Vince, J. Liq. Chromatogr. 13 (1990) 2253.
- [34] T. Ohshima, I. Johno, T. Hasegawa, S. Kitazawa, J. Liq. Chromatogr. 11 (1988) 3457.
- [35] T.C. Pinkerton, J.A. Perry, J.D. Rateike, J. Chromatogr. 367 (1986) 412.
- [36] R.H. Pullen, C.M. Kennedy, M.A. Curtis, J. Chromatogr. 434 (1988) 271.

- [37] S.J. Rainbow, C.M. Dawson, T.R. Tickner, J. Chromatogr. 527 (1990) 389.
- [38] A. Haque, J.T. Stewart, Biomed. Chromatogr. 13 (1999) 51.
- [39] J. Martinez Fernandez, J.L. Martinez Vidal, P. Parrilla Vazquez, A. Garrido Frenich, Chromatographia 53 (2001) 503.
- [40] J.A. Perry, L.J. Glunz, T.J. Szczerba, J.D. Rateike, LC GC 8 (1990) 832.
- [41] A. Puhlmann, T. Dulffer, U. Kobold, J. Chromatogr. 581 (1992) 129.
- [42] D. Ortelli, S. Rudaz, S. Souverain, J.L. Veuthey, J. Sep. Sci. 25 (2002) 222.
- [43] E.A. Hogeendoorn, P. Van Zoonen, Anal. Chem. 70 (1998) 1362.
- [44] N. Takeda, T. Niwa, K. Maeda, M. Shibata, A. Tatematsu, J. Chromatogr. 431 (1988) 418.
- [45] M. Mizobe, F. Kondo, C. Toyoshima, K. Kumamoto, T. Terada, H. Nasu, J. Vet. Med. Sci. 58 (1996) 495.
- [46] J.A.O. Meriluoto, K. Isaksson, H. Soini, S.E. Nyagard, J.E. Eriksson, Chromatographia 30 (1990) 301.
- [47] T.C. Pinkerton, K.A. Koeplinger, J. Chromatogr. 458 (1988) 129.
- [48] K.S. Boos, A. Rudolphi, S. Vielhauer, A. Walfort, D. Lubda, F. Eisenbeiss, Fresenius J. Anal. Chem. 352 (1995) 684.
- [49] A. Rudolphi, S. Vielhauer, K.S. Boos, D. Seidel, I.M. Bathge, H. Berger, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 13 (1995) 615.
- [50] S. Vielhauer, A. Rudolphi, K.S. Boos, D. Seidel, J. Chromatogr. B 666 (1995) 315.
- [51] P. Chiap, O. Rbeida, B. Christiaens, P. Hubert, D. Lubda, K.S. Boos, J. Crommen, J. Chromatogr. A 975 (2002) 145.
- [52] K. Racaityte, E.S.M. Lutz, K.K. Unger, D. Lubda, K.S. Boos, J. Chromatogr. A 890 (2000) 135.
- [53] W.R.G. Baeyens, G. Van Der Weken, J. Haustraete, H.Y. Aboul-Enein, S. Corveleyn, J.P. Remon, A.M. Garcia-Campana, P. Deprez, J. Chromatogr. A 871 (2000) 153.
- [54] R.E. Majors, K.S. Boos, C.H. Grimm, D. Lubda, G. Wieland, LC GC 14 (1996) 554.
- [55] D. Ohman, B. Carlsson, B. Norlander, J. Chromatogr. B 753 (2001) 365.
- [56] H. Keski-Hynnila, K. Raanaa, M. Forsberg, P. Mannisto, J. Taskinen, R. Kostiainen, J. Chromatogr. B 759 (2001) 227.
- [57] A. El Mahjoub, C. Staub, J. Chromatogr. B 754 (2001) 271.
- [58] R.M. Mader, B. Rizovski, G.G. Steger, J. Chromatogr. B 769 (2002) 357.
- [59] Z. Yu, D. Westerlund, J. Chromatogr. A 725 (1996) 149.
- [60] R.A.M. Van Des Hoeven, A.J.P. Hofte, M. Frenay, H. Irth, U.R. Tjaden, J. Van Der Greef, A. Rudolphi, K.S. Boos, G.M. Varga, L.E. Edholm, J. Chromatogr. A 762 (1997) 193.
- [61] Z. Yu, D. Westerlund, K.S. Boos, J. Chromatogr. B 689 (1997) 379.
- [62] Z. Yu, D. Westerlund, J. Chromatogr. A 742 (1996) 113.
- [63] A. Ceccato, B. Boulanger, P. Chiap, P. Hubert, J. Crommen, J. Chromatogr. A 819 (1998) 143.
- [64] T. Gordi, E. Nielsen, Z. Yu, D. Westerlund, M. Ashton, J. Chromatogr. B 742 (2000) 155.
- [65] C. Misl'anova, A. Sterfancova, J. Trace Microprobe Tech. 19 (2001) 163.
- [66] P. Chiap, A. Ceccato, R. Gora, P. Hubert, J. Geczy, J. Crommen, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 27 (2002) 447.
- [67] K. Heinig, F. Bucheli, J. Chromatogr. B 769 (2002) 9.
- [68] M. Walles, J. Borlak, K. Levsen, Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 374 (2002) 1179.
- [69] R. Brunetto, L. Gutierrez, Y. Delgado, M. Gallignani, J.L. Burguera, M. Burguera, Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 375 (2003) 534.
- [70] J. Van Zijtveld, S. Van Der Berg, P. Swart, Chromatographia 57 (2003) 23.
- [71] W.R.G. Baeyens, G. Van Der Weken, E. D'aeninck, A.M. Garcia-Campana, T. Vankeirsbilck, A. Vercauteren, P. Deprez, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 32 (2003) 839.
- [72] M.R. Brunetto, M.A. Obando, A. Fernandez, M. Gallignani, J.L. Burguera, M. Burguera, Talanta 58 (2002) 535.

- [73] M.R. Brunetto, A.R. Morales, M. Gallignani, J.L. Burguera, M. Burguera, Talanta 59 (2003) 913.
- [74] M. Ehrlich, F.D. Daschner, K. Kummerer, J. Chromatogr. B 751 (2001) 357.
- [75] M. Ehrlich, R. Trittler, F.D. Daschner, K. Kummerer, J. Chromatogr. B 755 (2001) 373.
- [76] R. Oertel, K. Richter, T. Gramatté, W. Kirch, J. Chromatogr. A 797 (1998) 203.
- [77] P. Kubalec, E. Brandsteterova, J. Chromatogr. B 726 (1999) 211.
- [78] W.M. Mullet, J. Pawliszyn, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 26 (2001) 899.
- [79] H. Sugergat, K.K. Unger, J. Emmert, J. Wendt, F. Mandel, LC GC: The Applications Book, 2002, p. 12.
- [80] G. Lamprecht, T. Kraushofer, K. Stoschitzky, W. Lindner, J. Chromatogr. B 740 (2000) 219.
- [81] C. Misl'anova, M. Hutta, J. Chromatogr. B 765 (2001) 167.
- [82] C. Misl'anova, A. Stefancova, J. Oravcova, J. Horecky, T. Trnovec, W. Lindner, J. Chromatogr. B 739 (2000) 151.
- [83] Y.C. Chang, C.M. Li, S.B. Jong, P.C. Liao, L.W. Chang, Analyst 128 (2003) 363.
- [84] E. Blahova, L. Bovanova, E. Brandsteterova, J. Liq. Chrom. Rel. Technol. 24 (2001) 3027.
- [85] ChrompSher 5 BioMatrix. Direct HPLC Injection of Protein-Rich Samples, VARIAN, Harbor City, CA, USA.
- [86] Column-Switching with ChromSpher 5 and 60 BioMatrix. Analysis of Protein Rich Samples Using On-Line Solid Phase Extraction (SPE) on ChromSpher 5 and 60 BioMatrix, VARIAN, Harbor City, CA, USA.
- [87] A. Van Waarde, T.J. Visser, H. Posthumus, P.H. Elsinga, R.L. Anthonio, A.M.A. Van Loenen-Weemaes, G.M. Visser, G.C.M. Beaufort-Krol, A.M.J. Paans, W. Vaalburg, J. Chromatogr. B 678 (1996) 253.
- [88] A. Weimann, G. Bojesen, J. Chromatogr. B 721 (1999) 47.
- [89] A. Van Warde, R.L. Anthonio, T.J. Visser, P.H. Elsinga, H. Posthumus, A.M.A. Weemaes, P.K. Blanksma, G.M. Visser, A.M.J. Paans, W. Vaalburg, J. Chromatogr. B 663 (1995) 361.
- [90] L.J. Glunz, J.A. Perry, B. Invergo, H. Wagner, T.J. Szczerba, J.D. Rateike, P.W. Glunz, J. Liq. Chromatogr. 15 (1992) 1361.
- [91] Z. Yu, D. Westerlund, K.S. Boos, J. Chromatogr. B 704 (1997) 53.
- [92] Z. Yu, D. Westerlund, J. Chromatogr. A 725 (1996) 137.
- [93] J. He, A. Shibukawa, T. Nakagawa, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 10 (1992) 289.
- [94] Z. Yu, M. Abdel-Rehim, D. Westerlund, J. Chromatogr. B 654 (1994) 221.
- [95] S.X. Peng, M.J. Strojnowski, D.M. Bornes, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 25 (1999) 343.
- [96] J.D. Brewster, A.R. Lightfield, R.A. Barford, J. Chromatogr. 598 (1992) 23.
- [97] K.M. Fried, I.W. Wainer, J. Chromatogr. B 655 (1994) 261.
- [98] V. Capka, Y. Xu, J. Chromatogr. B 762 (2001) 181.
- [99] B.J. Gurley, S. Zermatten, D. Skelton, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 12 (1994) 1591.
- [100] A. Haque, J.T. Stewart, Biomed. Chromatogr. 11 (1997) 236.
- [101] E. Brandsteterova, I.W. Wainer, J. Chromatogr. B 732 (1999) 395.
- [102] J. Van Zijtveld, E.J. Van Hoogdalem, J. Chromatogr. B 726 (1999) 169.
- [103] A. Haque, J.T. Stewart, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 16 (1997) 287.
- [104] I. Furuta, T. Kitahashi, T. Kuroda, H. Nishio, C. Oka, Y. Morishima, Clin. Chim. Acta 301 (2000) 31.
- [105] J. Hermansson, A. Grahn, J. Chromatogr. A 660 (1994) 119.
- [106] R.E. Majors, LC GC 10 (1997) 360.
- [107] M. Bielenstein, L. Astner, S. Ekberg, J. Chromatogr. B 730 (1999) 177.
- [108] S.R. Needham, M.J. Cole, H.G. Fouda, J. Chromatogr. B 718 (1998) 87.
- [109] J. Hermansson, A. Grahn, I. Hermansson, J. Chromatogr. A 797 (1998) 251.
- [110] A. El Mahjoub, C. Staub, J. Chromatogr. B 742 (2000) 381.

- [111] C. Gunaratna, Curr. Sep. 17 (1998) 83.
- [112] G. Friedrich, T. Rose, K. Rissler, J. Chromatogr. B 784 (2003) 49.
- [113] G. Friedrich, T. Rose, K. Rissler, J. Chromatogr. B 766 (2002) 295.
- [114] T. Kanda, H. Kutsuna, Y. Ohtsu, M. Yamaguchi, J. Chromatogr. A 672 (1994) 51.
- [115] C.K. Jeong, S.B. Kim, S.J. Choi, D.H. Sohn, G.I. Ko, H.S. Lee, J. Chromatogr. 138 (2000) 175.
- [116] H.M. Lee, S.J. Choi, C.K. Jeong, Y.S. Kim, K.C. Lee, H.S. Lee, J. Chromatogr. B 727 (1999) 213.
- [117] H.S. Lee, C.K. Jeong, S.J. Choi, S.B. Kim, M.H. Lee, G.I. Ko, D.H. Sohn, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 23 (2000) 775.
- [118] D. Song, J.L.S. Au, J. Chromatogr. B 676 (1996) 165.
- [119] H. Ochiai, N. Uchiyama, T. Takano, K.I. Hara, T. Kamei, J. Chromatogr. B 713 (1998) 409.
- [120] M. Baek, Y.S. Rho, D.H. Kim, J. Chromatogr. B 732 (1999) 357.
- [121] H.M. Lee, C.K. Jeong, S.J. Choi, B.M. Yoon, D.H. Na, K.C. Lee, H.S. Lee, Chromatographia 51 (2000) 353.
- [122] Y. Hsieh, J.M. Brisson, K. Ng, W.A. Korfmacher, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 27 (2002) 285.
- [123] J. Yamaguchi, Y. Matsuno, K. Hachiuma, N. Ogawa, S. Higuchi, Rapid Commun. Mass. Spectrom. 15 (2001) 629.
- [124] M. Baek, J.H. Jeong, D.H. Kim, J. Chromatogr. B 754 (2001) 121.
- [125] C.K. Jeong, H.Y. Lee, M.S. Jang, W.B. Kim, H.S. Lee, J. Chromatogr. B 752 (2001) 141.
- [126] D. Song, M.G. Wientjes, J.L.S. Au, J. Chromatogr. B 690 (1997) 289.
- [127] O. Shirota, A. Suzuki, T. Kanda, Y. Ohtsu, M. Yamaguchi, J. Microcol. Sep. 7 (1995) 29.
- [128] Y. Hsieh, M.S. Bryant, J.M. Brisson, K. Ng, W.A. Korfmacher, J. Chromatogr. B 767 (2002) 353.
- [129] H.M. Lee, H.Y. Lee, J.K. Choi, H.S. Lee, Arch. Pharm. Res. 24 (2001) 207.
- [130] D.S. Yim, J.E. Jeong, J.Y. Park, J. Chromatogr. B 754 (2001) 487.
- [131] S.I. Yasueda, Y. Kimura, A. Ohtori, K. Kakehi, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 30 (2003) 1735.
- [132] S.K. Baek, S.J. Choi, J.S. Kim, E.J. Park, D.H. Sohn, H.Y. Lee, H.S. Lee, Biomed. Chromatogr. 16 (2002) 277.
- [133] D. Teshima, N. Kitagawa, K. Otsubo, K. Makino, Y. Itoh, R. Oishi, J. Chromatogr. B 780 (2002) 21.
- [134] M. Katagi, M. Nishikawa, M. Tatsuno, A. Miki, H. Tsuchihashi, J. Chromatogr. B 751 (2001) 177.
- [135] D.J. Gisch, B.T. Hunter, B. Feibush, J. Chromatogr. 433 (1988) 264.
- [136] K. Uno, I. Maeda, J. Chromatogr. B 663 (1995) 177.
- [137] D.J. Wang, Y. Qu, P. Hu, P.L. Zhu, Chromatographia 31 (1991) 137.
- [138] J. Ma, C.L. Liu, P.L. Zhu, Z.P. Jia, L.T. Xu, R. Wang, J. Chromatogr. B 772 (2002) 197.
- [139] R. Ueno, K. Uno, T. Aoki, J. Chromatogr. 573 (1992) 333.
- [140] N. Kuroda, Y. Hamachi, N. Aoki, W. Mitsuhiro, M. Tanigawa, K. Nakashima, Biomed. Chromatogr. 13 (1999) 340.
- [141] M.R. Lockemeyer, C.V. Smith, J. Chromatogr. 532 (1990) 162.
- [142] P. Djurdjevic, M. Jelikic-Stankov, A. Laban, Talanta 55 (2001) 631.
- [143] E. Riva, R. Merati, L. Cavenaghi, J. Chromatogr. 553 (1991) 35.
- [144] R. Ueno, T. Aoki, J. Chromatogr. B 682 (1996) 179.
- [145] H.M. Quinn, J.J. Takarewski, 1997 [WO97/16724].
- [146] V. Pretorius, T.W. Smuts, Anal. Chem. 38 (1966) 274.
- [147] M. Martin, G. Guiochon, Anal. Chem. 54 (1982) 1533.
- [148] J.T. Wu, H. Zeng, M. Qian, B.L. Brogdon, S.E. Unger, Anal. Chem. 72 (2000) 61.
- [149] N. Brignol, R. Bakhtiar, L. Dou, T. Majumdar, F.L.S. Tse, Rapid Commun. Mass. Spectrom. 14 (2000) 141.
- [150] M. Jemal, M. Huang, X. Jiang, Y. Mao, M.L. Powell, Rapid Commun. Mass. Spectrom. 13 (1999) 2125.
- [151] M. Jemal, Z. Ouyang, M.L. Powell, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 23 (2000) 323.
- [152] Q. Song, L. Putcha, J. Chromatogr. B 763 (2001) 9.
- [153] K. Cabrera, D. Lubda, H.M. Eggenweiler, H. Minakuchi, K. Nakanishi, J. High Resol. Chromatogr. 23 (2000) 93.

- [154] T. Tanaka, H. Nagayama, H. Kobayashi, T. Ikegami, K. Hosoya, N. Ishizuka, H. Minakuchi, K. Nakanishi, K. Cabrera, D. Lubda, J. High Resol. Chromatogr. 23 (2000) 111.
- [155] R. Plumb, G. Dear, D. Mallett, J. Ayrton, Rapid Commun. Mass. Spectrom. 15 (2001) 986.
- [156] S. Souverain, S. Rudaz, J.L. Veuthey, Chromatographia 57 (2003) 569.
- [157] J.P.C. Vissers, H.A. Claessens, C.A. Cramers, J. Chromatogr. A 779 (1997) 1.
- [158] J.P.C. Vissers, J. Chromatogr. A 856 (1999) 117.
- [159] M. Jemal, Y.Q. Whigan, D.B. Whigan, Rapid Commun. Mass. Spectrom. 12 (1998) 1389.
- [160] J. Ayrton, W.J. Leavens, D.N. Mallett, R.S. Plumb, Rapid Commun. Mass. Spectrom. 11 (1997) 1953.
- [161] J. Ayrton, G.J. Dear, W.J. Leavens, D.N. Mallett, R.S. Plumb, J. Chromatogr. A 828 (1998) 199.
- [162] J. Ayrton, R.A. Clare, G.J. Dear, D.N. Mallett, R.S. Plumb, Rapid Commun. Mass. Spectrom. 13 (1999) 1657.
- [163] M.K. Bayliss, D. Little, D.N. Mallett, R.S. Plumb, Rapid Commun. Mass. Spectrom. 14 (2000) 2039.
- [164] N. Van Eeckhout, J. Castro Perez, J. Claereboundt, R. Vandeputte, C. Van Peteghem, Rapid Commun. Mass. Spectrom. 14 (2000) 280.
- [165] D. Zimmer, V. Pickard, W. Czembor, C. Muller, J. Chromatogr. A 854 (1999) 23.
- [166] G. Hopfgartner, C. Husser, M. Zell, Ther. Drug Monit. 24 (2002) 134.
- [167] C. Schafer, D. Lubda, J. Chromatogr. A 909 (2001) 73.
- [168] G. Hopfgartner, E. Bourgogne, Mass Spectrom. Rev. 22 (2003) 195.
- [169] W.M.A. Niessen, A.P. Tinke, J. Chromatogr. A 703 (1995) 37.
- [170] P. Sandra, G. Vanhoenacker, F. Lynen, L. Li, M. Schelfaut, LC GC Guide to LC–MS, 2001, p. 8.
- [171] W.M.A. Niessen, J. Chromatogr. A 856 (1999) 179.
- [172] W.M.A. Niessen, J. Chromatogr. A 794 (1998) 407.
- [173] M.L. Powell, M. Jemal, Am. Pharm. Rev. 4 (2001) 63.
- [174] B.K. Choi, D.M. Hercules, A.I. Gusev, J. Chromatogr. A 907 (2001) 337.
- [175] I. Fu, E.J. Woolf, B.K. Matuszewski, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 18 (1998) 347.
- [176] M. Jemal, Y.Q. Xia, Rapid Commun. Mass. Spectrom. 13 (1999) 97.
- [177] M. Jemal, Z. Ouyang, Y.Q. Xia, M.L. Powell, Rapid Commun. Mass. Spectrom. 13 (1999) 1462.
- [178] B.L. Ackermann, A.T. Murphy, M.J. Berna, Am. Pharm. Rev. 5 (2002) 54.
- [179] P. Campins-Falco, R. Herraez-Hernandez, A. Sevilano-Cabeza, J. Chromatogr. 619 (1993) 177.
- [180] J.W. Veals, C.C. Lin, Am. Lab. 20 (1988) 42.
- [181] H. Imai, T. Masujima, I. Morita-Wada, G. Tamai, Anal. Sci. 5 (1989) 389.
- [182] S. Souverain, S. Rudaz, D. Ortelli, E. Varesio, J.L. Veuthey, J. Chromatogr. B 784 (2002) 117.
- [183] M. Kollroser, C. Schober, Rapid Commun. Mass. Spectrom. 16 (2002) 1266.
- [184] H. Zeng, Y. Deng, J.T. Wu, J. Chromatogr. B 788 (2003) 331.
- [185] K. Fried, I.W. Wainer, J. Chromatogr. B 689 (1997) 91.
- [186] R.T. Cass, J.S. Villa, D.E. Karr, D.E. Schmidt Jr., Rapid Commun. Mass. Spectrom. 15 (2001) 406.
- [187] C. Chassaing, J. Luckwell, P. Macrae, K. Saunders, P. Wright, R. Venn, Chromatographia 53 (2001) 122.
- [188] L. Ramos, N. Brignol, R. Bakhtiar, T. Ray, L.M. Mc Mahon, F.L.S. Tse, Rapid Commun. Mass. Spectrom. 14 (2000) 2282.
- [189] Y.Q. Xia, D.B. Whigan, M.L. Powell, M. Jemal, Rapid Commun. Mass. Spectrom. 14 (2000) 105.
- [190] C.R. Mallet, J.R. Mazzeo, U. Neue, Rapid Commun. Mass. Spectrom. 15 (2001) 1075.
- [191] H.K. Lim, K.W. Chan, S. Sisenwine, J.A. Scatina, Anal. Chem. 73 (2001) 2140.

- [192] H. Zeng, J.T. Wu, S.E. Unger, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 27 (2002) 967.
- [193] J.T. Wu, Rapid Commun. Mass. Spectrom. 15 (2001) 73.
- [194] M. Takino, S. Daishima, K. Yamaguchi, T. Nakahara, Analyst 128 (2002) 46.
- [195] M. Kollroser, C. Schober, Chromatographia 57 (2003) 133.
- [196] S. Yang, X. Zheng, Y. Xu, X. Zhou, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 30 (2002) 781.
- [197] Y. Deng, H. Zeng, S.E. Unger, J.T. Wu, Rapid Commun. Mass. Spectrom. 15 (2001) 1634.
- [198] C.R. Mallet, Z. Lu, J. Mazzeo, U. Neue, Rapid Commun. Mass. Spectrom. 16 (2002) 805.
- [199] M. Kollroser, C. Schober, Ther. Drug. Monit. 24 (2002) 537.
- [200] J.M. Long, C.A. James, B.J. Clark, M.G. Castelli, S. Rolando, Chromatographia 55S (2002) S-31.
- [201] R.P. Grant, C. Cameron, S. Mackenzie-McMurter, Rapid Commun. Mass. Spectrom. 16 (2002) 1785.